1958

Sugar & Ulmer v. Plateau Uranium Investment Corporation : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sugar & Ulmer is a partnership in business as Certified Public Accountants. It was active in securing the organization of Deseret Uranium Corporation. Dan S. Bushnell did the legal work in the incorporation of Deseret and also did the necessary legal work incident to Registration of the corporation with the State and Federal Securities Commissions (R. 3).

Mr. Bushnell was approached originally by a Mr. Prestwich and a Mr. VanBlerkem to do this legal work for Deseret (R. 9, 13, 19 and 24). A fee of \$1,250.00 was discussed at that time, said fee to be paid: (a) for

the incorporation of Deseret and, (b) for the negotiations and work incident to the Securities Commission Registrations. This work was done but the original underwriting failed and the properties were returned to Mr. Prestwich (R. 14).

Thereafter new arrangements were entered into, new properties were acquired for the corporation, additional work was performed, and a new fee arrangement was made superseding the prior fee arrangement (R. 15). The new fee arrangement was for \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 stock (R. 16, 17 and 21). The additional legal work was completed but the second underwriting of the company did not materialize (R. 39).

Thereafter, Mr. Bushnell sent various billings for his work to Deseret Uranium Corporation (R. 32) (Exs. D-1, 2, 3). Upon receiving no payment of said bills, Mr. Bushnell, through his assignee, filed suit against Deseret Uranium Corporation for the full amount of the fees and at the same time filed suit against Appellants for the same fees which had been included in the suit against Deseret (R. 1, 32, 34) (Ex. 2).

The instant case was appealed from the City Court to the District Court and judgment was rendered in favor of the plaintiff in the amount of \$768.76, from which judgment this appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1.

FINDINGS OF FACT NO. 2 IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

3

POINT 2.

APPELLANTS' OBLIGATION IF ANY WAS DISCHARGED AS A JOINT OBLIGATION UNDER TITLE 15-4, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1.

FINDINGS OF FACT NO. 2 IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

The testimony adduced at the trial both on behalf of the Respondent and on behalf of the Appellants, does not indicate an original obligation of the Appellants to pay for the legal services rendered by Respondent. At the most, the evidence merely indicates a possible joint obligation owing by Deseret Uranium Corporation and by the Appellants.

An examination of the testimony upon which Respondent relies indicates that Mr. Bushnell was contacted by Mr. Prestwich and Mr. Van Blerkem regarding the legal services to be rendered, prior to being introduced to Mr. Paul Sugar (R. 13, 19 and 24). There was some discussion of a \$1,250.00 fee. However the underwriting failed, the properties were returned to Mr. Prestwich, and it appeared that Mr. Sugar and Mr. Bushnell had performed a considerable amount of work for nothing (R. 14).

It was then decided to go ahead with a new venture and to undertake additional work. For this Mr. Bushnell agreed to an increased fee of \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 stock which was to be paid solely by the corporation (R. 15, 16, 17 and 21).

The second venture also failed and only after Mr. Bushnell had billed Deseret for several months and was unable to obtain the money and stock due him, did he then attempt to collect the money from Appellants (R. 32), as well as from the Corporation.

It is significant to note that Mr. Bushnell claims a \$500.00 fee which arose out of the original transaction and further claims that he was to receive that fee thirty days after clearance of the corporation under the original underwriting (R. 25). Notwithstanding said alleged fee arrangement, Mr. Bushnell went forward with the second arrangements wherein he agreed to the total fee of \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 worth of stock to be paid by the corporation (R. 30, 39). There is no documentary evidence whatsoever to support the \$500.00 fee arrangement contended for by Mr. Bushnell. To the contrary, defendant's Exs. 1, 2 and 3 all are statements of Mr. Bushnell addressed to Deseret Uranium Corporation, claiming the full amount for his services from that company (R. 42). No statements were ever sent to Appellants. These facts, when considered with the manner in which Mr. Bushnell went ahead with the work are entirely inconsistent with any claim for \$500.00. Rather, these facts do prove a fee arrangement of \$3,000 cash and \$3,000 worth of stock, payable by the corporation.

Finally when suit was brought to collect the alleged fee, suit was brought against Deseret Uranium Corporation for the full amount of the bill and then according to Mr. Bushnell's own testimony (R. 32, 33, 34) a separate suit was brought against Appellants to collect again

the alleged \$500.00 (Ex. 2) (R.-1). The only explanation offered by Mr. Bushnell for the two suits is that the obligation was a joint obligation (R. 35). Certainly prior to this time there was no indication whatsoever either in the testimony of the parties, in the actual carrying on of the second transaction or in the billing by Mr. Bushnell, to indicate any attempt to collect the \$500.00 from Appellants. Actually the evidence clearly indicates that the original fee arrangement whatever it may have been was merged into the fee arrangement involving the second transaction, to-wit, \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 worth of stock. It was on the basis of this arrangement that Mr. Bushnell and the corporation proceeded. It was on the basis of this arrangement that Mr. Bushnell filed suit against the corporation and admittedly in that suit claimed all of the fee to which he felt entitled because of his work on the corporation and on the underwriting. The present suit was just added insurance.

Therefore, there is not sufficient evidence to indicate any original obligation of Sugar & Ulmer to pay to Dan Bushnell the said \$500.00 fee pluss \$198.00 costs. The only reasonable conclusion is that the corporation fee agreement was the superseding and final word.

POINT 2.

APPELLANTS' OBLIGATION IF ANY WAS DISCHARGED AS A JOINT OBLIGATION UNDER TITLE 15-4, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953.

If under the evidence, the Court *should* determine that there is sufficient proof of an obligation by Sugar

& Ulmer to pay \$500 fee plus \$198.00 costs, then there is no question but that it is a joint obligation. Mr. Bushnell himself on cross-examination, states unequivocally that the obligation was a joint obligation. The following excerpt from the record at Page 34 so indicates:

“Q. Now, as a matter of fact, in your complaint in this — in the complaint in this particular action, you have also sued for services rendered — for the identical services rendered — during the identical time and for the identical costs, have you not?

A. That is true.

Q. So, at the time that you filed this action, you also filed the action seeking to recover the same amount of money from Deseret Uranium Company?

A. That's right.

Q. Now, is it not true that you considered that Plateau owed you for this money, as well as Sugar & Ulmer — you are now attempting to recover from Sugar & Ulmer?

A. Yes, I considered them as co-obligors to the extent of the \$500 and costs, and the balance would be the sole obligation of the corporation.

Q. So, as to the amount you are suing Sugar & Ulmer for, you considered that as a joint obligation?

A. Yes.”

Therefore, since this obligation is admittedly a joint obligation, the amount owed by Sugar & Ulmer has been

discharged by reason of a release of that amount made by Mr. Bushnell in the case against Deseret Uranium Corporation, Civil No. 108219 (Ex. 3).

An examination of this file indicates a suit by Plateau Uranium Investment Corporation, the assignee of Mr. Bushnell, against Deseret Uranium Corporation for the full amount of \$6,448.68. The Complaint in that case is for the identical work set forth in the complaint of the subject case and is couched in identical terms. Mr. Bushnell clearly indicates that the claim against Deseret included the amount sought to be recovered from Appellants. Mr. Bushnell also very clearly indicates that in taking judgment against Deseret in Civil No. 108219, he specifically reduced that judgment and thus the joint liability by \$700.00 (R. 35). Having clearly settled the claim against Deseret for less than the amount sought to be recovered, the joint obligor, Appellants in this case, is released from any further obligation. As is shown in Civil No. 108219, and specifically in the judgment therein entered, the claimed amount was voluntarily reduced by \$700.00. Such a release without specifically reserving liability against the joint obligors, releases in this case Sugar & Ulmer from any liability thereon, since the obligation was joint only to the extent of the \$500 plus \$198.68 costs.

An examination of our statute, Title 15-4, U.C.A. 1953, upholds this contention:

“15-4-4. Release of coobligor-Reservation of rights. — Subject to the provisions of section

15-4-3, the obligee's release or discharge of one or more of several obligors, or of one or more of joint or of joint and several obligors, shall not discharge coobligors against whom the obligee in writing and as part of the same transaction as the release or discharge expressly reserves his rights; and in the absence of such a reservation of rights shall discharge coobligors only to the extent provided in section 15-4-5."

"15-4-5. Release of coobligor — Effect of knowledge of obligee. — If an obligee releasing or discharging an obligor without express reservation of rights against a coobligor then knows or has reason to know that the obligor released or discharged did not pay as much of the claim as he was bound by his contract or relation with that coobligor to pay, the obligee's claim against that coobligor shall be satisfied to the amount which the obligee knew or had reason to know that the released or discharged obligor was bound to such coobligor to pay.

"If an obligee so releasing or discharging an obligor has not then such knowledge or reason to know, the obligee's claim against the coobligor shall be satisfied to the extent of the lesser of two amounts, namely: (a) the amount of the fractional share of the obligor released or discharged, or (b) the amount that such obligor was bound by his contract or relation with the coobligor to pay."

In interpreting these two sections, reference is made to the case of *Greenhatch vs. Shell Oil Company*, 78 Fed. 2d 942, 10th Cir. This Utah case is analogous to the subject case in that the plaintiff had previously sued one party for a wrong and had accepted a certain sum

of money in full satisfaction therefor and had given a release and Stipulation for Dismissal which did not expressly reserve any rights against the coobligor. The Court upheld the general rule of law that a release of one joint debtor discharges his co-joint debtor unless the discharge or release specifically reserves the claim against the coobligor. See also additional cases under the annotation in 50 *A.L.R.* 1057 and in 49 *C.J.S.*, para. 564.

Thus we can only conclude that if this obligation survived the new arrangement for \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 stock, at most it was a joint obligation wherein Deseret Uranium Corporation was the joint obligor. Mr. Bushnell sued Deseret and sued Sugar & Ulmer to recover the same \$500.00 plus costs. He thereafter released Deseret Uranium from any liability on this joint obligation. In releasing this joint obligor, he did not reserve any claim against Sugar & Ulmer and as is stated in the *Greenhalch*, *supra* case "there being no written reservation of right against defendant (Appellants) as provided in Section 4, we conclude that the release given discharged defendant from liability, if any" for the fee obligation.

SUMMARY

In conclusion, Appellants contend that there may have been some discussion in the earlier transaction of a \$1,250.00 fee arrangement. There is confusion as to whether the fee was to be \$500.00 or \$1,250.00. Whatever the figure may have been when the original transaction failed, that fee arrangement was discarded. In under-

taking the new and subsequent transaction, the fee arrangement was \$3,000.00 cash and \$3,000.00 worth of stock plus costs, to be paid by Deseret Uranium Corporation. The evidence which indicates anything to the contrary is inconsequential. However, if this court does find enough evidence to support *Findings of Fact No. 2*, the Court must also find the existence of a joint obligation between Deseret Uranium Corporation and Appellants. Having made such a determination, the Court as a matter of law must hold that said joint obligation has been released and satisfied by the release by one of the joint obligors without sufficient written reservation of the claim against the other joint obligor.

Appellants respectfully pray that this Honorable Court reverse the decision of the trial Court, awarding costs to these Appellants.

Respectfully submitted,

CLYDE & MECHAM
ELLIOTT LEE PRATT
Attorneys for Appellants
351 South State Street
Salt Lake City 11, Utah