1958

Sugar & Ulmer v. Plateau Uranium Investment Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Respondent does not agree with the Statement of Facts submitted by Appellants. The statement is incomplete and not objective. However, since the argument of Point One requires a complete review of the evidence, no attempt will be made by the Respondent to state the particular points of disagreement.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT ONE: THERE IS SUFFICIENT COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT TO THE EFFECT THAT THE APPELLANTS AGREED TO PAY A RETAINER OF \$500, PLUS COSTS.

POINT TWO: THE OBLIGATION OF THE APPELLANTS WAS NOT DISCHARGED BY VIRTUE OF TITLE 15-4, U.C.A. 1953.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: THERE IS SUFFICIENT COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE FINDINGS OF THE COURT TO THE EFFECT THAT THE APPELLANTS AGREED TO PAY A RETAINER OF \$500, PLUS COSTS.

Finding of Fact Number 2, which the Appellant claims is not supported by the evidence, is as follows:

“On April 12, 1955, the defendants (Appellants) agreed to pay the plaintiff's assignor (Respondent) the sum of \$500 and costs on a fee to be charged for services performed in connection with the organizing of Deseret Uranium Corporation and clearance with State and Federal regulatory bodies, for the purpose of permitting a public sale of stock of said company.”

The only factual issue for the court to decide was whether there was or was not an agreement as found in the Findings of Fact. The trial took less than two hours and involved the testimony of three witnesses. It is submitted that the evidence is not only sufficient to sustain the Findings of Fact, but rather compels such a finding.

Although the parties disagree as to whether the Appellants were personally liable on the first fee arrangement, there is no dispute but what Mr. Bushnell performed all of the legal work originally agreed upon and was not paid. After that time, he was again requested to prepare a new offering circular and to make new filings with State and Federal regulatory bodies for the purpose of securing authorization to commence a public sale of stock. Discussions concerning the first fee arrangement were had with Mr. Sugar. Although there was a preliminary discussion sometime prior to March 19, 1955, the final fee arrangement was consummated with Mr. Ulmer during the first part of April, 1955 (R. 16, 22). There is no dispute concerning the fact that the Appellants advanced \$175 to apply on costs in connection with the initial work (R. 8). There is also no dispute that if the underwriting had been successful the Appellants would have been the principal parties to benefit therefrom. They readily admitted that they would have received a substantial profit involving cash, royalties and stock (R. 11, 12, 42).

Mr. Bushnell testified in behalf of the Respondent to the effect that before agreeing to make the refilings a new fee arrangement was negotiated. More particularly, the Appellants agreed to pay all costs and advance a \$500 retainer. A contingent fee of \$3,000 cash and \$3,000 stock was to be paid by the corporation if the underwritings were successful. If the corporation paid such a fee, Mr. Bushnell would then reimburse the Appellants for the sums advanced by them. Whether such an agreement was made was the sole factual issue for the trial court. The testimony of the Appellants is sufficient to support

a finding that such an agreement was made, without relying upon the direct testimony of Mr. Bushnell.

Paul Sugar, one of the Appellants, called as an adverse witness, testified that he went to the hospital with a heart attack on March 19, 1955 (R. 45), and that Mr. Ulmer continued with the negotiations and arrangements for the refiling. He admitted that either while he was at the hospital or immediately thereafter while convalescing, Mr. Ulmer had a discussion with him concerning a demand made by Mr. Bushnell for the \$500 retainer plus costs (R. 46). It should be noted that it is the contention of Mr. Bushnell that the fee arrangement was finally agreed upon on April 12, 1955; that the final papers and material were submitted to him in May of 1955; that the filing was made with the Securities and Exchange Commission in June, and final approval was secured therefrom on July 8, 1955. Part of Mr. Sugar's testimony concerning the \$500 retainer is as follows:

“(Questions by Mr. Bushnell)

Answer: Well, he also said that you said, at that time, that I would give him five—give you \$500 towards this fee at that time; this I didn't tell you.

Question: See if we understand what you are saying; Mr. Ulmer said to you that I was taking the position that Sugar and Ulmer was to pay me a \$500 retainer—

Answer: Yes.

Question: —is that correct?

Answer: No; no, that you and I had made that arrangement.

Question: That is what he told you?

Answer: That is correct.” (R. 17).

Mr. Sugar admitted that he had testified as follows at the time of the taking of his deposition:

"Answer: That came up later when Harry Ulmer told me you were asking for \$500 as the advance retainer, and that was the first time I had heard of it.

Question: When did Harry Ulmer advise you of that?

Answer: I don't recall that with reference to the work being done, before or after it was done, or after the work had been started. Anyway, I don't know if it had been completed.

Question: All right, what did he tell you about the \$500?

Answer: He said you were looking for \$500 fee—a \$500 advance on the fee, and you didn't want to go ahead, and I said, 'You tell him to go ahead and do that work.' " (R. 18).

On cross-examination, Mr. Sugar testified concerning the same matter as follows:

"Question: And you have testified, have you not, that Mr. Ulmer told you, either when you were in the hospital or when you were convalescing, that I was making demand for \$500 retainer before I would go ahead. Didn't he tell you that?

Answer: Yes.

Question: And you testified that you told Mr. Ulmer to go ahead, did you not?

Answer: Yes, because—but, in line with the same thing, I attempted before to make out exactly what I did say to go ahead, it being understood you knew what—." (R. 46).

Although Mr. Sugar attempted to qualify the foregoing

statements, he had to admit that he had made no such attempted qualification at the time of the taking of his deposition.

Although Mr. Ulmer admitted that he was not involved in any discussions regarding the initial fee arrangement and that he did participate actively with reference to the refile with the second group of properties, (R. 20) he testified that he did know of a discussion concerning a \$500 fee. His testimony was as follows:

“Answer: Well, now, I don’t know whether Mr. Sugar told me, or I got that information from elsewhere, but, as I remember, the original fee was to be in the neighborhood of \$500. * * * (R. 22).

Question: But you do recall discussions concerning the \$500 fee—that that fee—

Answer: Not discussions; possibly, just mere statements.

Question: You do have in your recollection—

Answer: Yes.

Question:—that there was, at some time, a fee of \$500 discussed.

Answer: That’s correct, yes.

Question: And who was to pay that \$500 fee, according to your understanding?

Answer: As I remember, we were going to advance the money—Sugar and Ulmer.

Question: Do I understand your testimony correctly that, as to the \$500, it is your recollection that Sugar and Ulmer was to pay that amount?

Answer: Yes.” (R. 23).

Mr. Bushnell testified that he made a demand upon Mr. Sugar and Mr. Ulmer for the \$500 retainer in a telephone conversation in which he talked to both Mr. Sugar and Mr. Ulmer. He testified that the conversation in substance was as follows:

"He (Sugar) said, 'Son, what is it you want?' I said, I want my \$500 and costs.' He said, 'If that is all you are worried about, don't worry about it; we will take care of it.' He said, 'I have got to go and get to the airport. I will miss my plane.'"

Sugar, on direct examination by his counsel, admitted such a call. He testified as follows:

"Answer: Yes, Mr. Bushnell and Mr. Ulmer, I think, my memory is hazy on that.

Question: At least you had a conversation with him about the fees, shortly after you came back to the office after your illness?

Answer: Yes.

Question: Can you recall what the substance of that was?

Answer: I don't recall.

Question: Was a fee arrangement involved in the conversation in any way that you recall?

Answer: No, it was something about the \$500, but I don't recall the conversation.

Question: And was Mr. Ulmer present at that time?

Answer: I think so, either present or might have been three-way telephone conversation, or in the office. Truthfully, my memory is a little hazy on that." (R. 41).

The foregoing testimony and admissions by the Appellants would appear sufficient to support the position of the Respondent. However, in addition to those admissions, there is the direct testimony of Mr. Bushnell, based upon a written memorandum in his file, as follows:

"That would be 1955. Mr. Sugar told me, 'Well, I will see what I can work out getting these properties, and we will have further discussions.'

"Thereafter, I was advised by Mr. Ulmer that Mr. Sugar had become ill, and had gone to the hospital, and that he would take over working out these arrangements; and I procured from Mr. Ulmer properties, abstracts, geological reports, maps—usual information that goes into offering circulars.

"However, I advised Mr. Ulmer—and my thought—best recollection on that—would be some few days before April 12, 1955; that, if they wanted me to release them from personal liability, that I would be willing to take this case, as I had other cases, on, in essence, a contingent fee basis.

"I explained, many of these companies had never been successful, and it was problematical whether they would receive the money, and I had to work on percentage, that I would be willing to take the case on a fee of \$3,000 cash and \$3,000 worth of stock, and a \$500 retainer, which would have to be paid in advance, plus costs.

"If they paid the \$500 retainer and costs, then I would relieve them from personal liability, which I was claiming as to the \$1,250, and look to the company for payment if it were successful.

"He said, 'Well, this is new to me; I will have to discuss it with Mr. Sugar, and I will let you know.'

"A day or two later, he called back, and the exact date was April 12 at 3:50 in the afternoon, and advised that—and stated that he had talked to Mr. Sugar, and that the fee was satisfactory. With reference to that telephone conversation, which was taken by a stenographer in my office, I made the notation as to the fee which we discussed, which was \$3,000 cash, \$3,000 stock, if the underwriting were successful, and a \$500 down payment as a retainer, plus costs, and filed that memorandum in the file." (R. 29).

Having in mind the fundamental rule that, on appeal from factual issues, the evidence will be reviewed in the light most favorable to the Respondent and if there is any substantial competent evidence to support the finding of the trial court, such finding will be affirmed, it is submitted that the foregoing evidence is more than ample to justify on affirmance of the decision of the trial court on this factual issue.

POINT TWO: THE OBLIGATION OF THE APPELLANTS WAS NOT DISCHARGED BY VIRTUE OF TITLE 15-4, U.C.A. 1953.

The Appellants maintain that the claim of the Respondent is barred by reason of Title 15-4, U.C.A., 1953, which provides that if a joint obligor is released from liability and a reservation of rights against other joint obligors is not contained in that release, then all parties are released and discharged. The Respondent does not argue with the law cited by the Appellants based upon that particular statutory provision. However, it is submitted that there was no release of a joint obligor which would bring into operation the terms of this statute. A release is a contract by the terms of which one party, for a good and

valuable consideration, releases and discharges rights of another party. There is no document purporting to be a release, nor is there any agreement or consideration which would support such a contention. Rather, the only thing relied upon by the Appellants in support of their contention is the fact that the Respondent voluntarily reduced the amount of its claim against the corporation by \$700. Counsel for the Appellants, also representing Deseret Uranium Corporation, had stipulated that the Respondent could secure judgment against the corporation. At this time a decision by a City Judge in the identical matter now before this court was under advisement. Counsel for the Appellant was arguing that the securing of a judgment against the corporation for the full claim would prohibit the Respondent from securing a judgment against the Appellants for part of the same claim. To eliminate any substance to such a contention, and since the corporation was insolvent, the Respondent voluntarily reduced the amount of its requested claim by \$700. Such a reduction does not amount to a contract or a release, and was not supported by a consideration.

The annotation cited by the Appellants in their brief in 50 A.L.R. 1057 is entitled "Release of one tort-feasor as affecting liability of others." Although the annotation is dealing with release of tort feasors and the case now before the court is dealing with joint obligors pursuant to a contract, it is submitted that what amounts to a release would be the same in both cases. One of the subparagraphs of the annotation is as follows: "Dismissal or entry of nolle prosequi as to part." The general statement of the law under this subdivision is as follows:

"The discontinuance, as to one tort-feasor, of an action brought against several tort-feasors, does not release the others." (Citation of authorities.)

The annotation is supplemented in 66 A.L.R. 206, 104 A.L.R. 846, 124 A.L.R. 1298, and 148 A.L.R. 1270. In each of the subsequent annotations the general rule is stated to the same effect. Excerpts from some of those supplemental annotations are as follows:

104 A.L.R. 860.

"VI. Dismissal or entry of nolle prosequi as to part. (Supplementing annotations in 50 A.L.R. 1091 and 66 A.L.R. 213).

Neither a dismissal of a claim as against one or two joint tort-feasors, for conversion, nor even a settlement made with one of them, was held to effect a release of another, in *Day v. Smith* (1934) 46 Wyo. 515, 30 P. 2d 786.

In overruling the contention that the trial court's dismissal of a suit, as to a defendant who had obtained a covenant not to sue, thereby gave the agreement the effect of a release so as to discharge another defendant, who did not appeal therefrom, the court in *Cook v. City Transport Corp.* (1935) 272 Mich. 91, 261 N.W. 257, *supra*, IV., observed that plaintiff had a right to elect whom he would sue and to dismiss as to a defendant, and that he could accept the court's ruling as the equivalent of a voluntary dismissal by himself, which would not have discharged the other defendant; and it also stated that the dismissal did not change the other defendant's liability."

124 A.L.R. 1315.

"VI. Dismissal or entry of nolle prosequi as to part. (Supplementing annotations in 50 A.L.R. 1091; 66 A.L.R. 213; and 104 A.L.R. 860).

The general rule appears to be, as shown by the earlier annotations, that the discontinuance, as to one tort-feasor, of an action brought against several tort-feasors, does not release the others.

In *Shea v. San Bernardino* (1936) 7 Cal. 2d 688, 62 P. 2d 365, the court said: 'The discontinuance, as to one tort-feasor, of an action brought against several tort-feasors, no satisfaction having been received, does not release the others.' In that case plaintiff brought suit against a railway company and city, for damages sustained while driving over a rough railway crossing, and it was held that plaintiff's dismissal of the action as to the railway company did not release the city, where there was no showing that any satisfaction was received by plaintiff for the injury.

Plaintiff's dismissal of the cause of action as to the two joint tort-feasors, effectuated by voluntarily asking the clerk to enter such dismissal, in pursuance of a settlement and covenant not to sue, was held not to release other joint tort-feasors, in *Lewis V. Johnson*, (1939) 12 Cal. 2d 558, 86 P. 2d 99, set out more fully supra, IV a, wherein the court distinguished between such a voluntary dismissal by clerk's entry, which is presumed to be without prejudice to the bringing of another action, and a dismissal entered in open court pursuant to stipulation, which is ordinarily effective as a retraxit.' "

If the Respondent in this case could have dismissed the entire action as against the corporation and the same would not have been construed as a release of any liability, it is submitted that the Respondent may, in its discretion, waive a part of the claim against the corporation. The quotations from the annotations clearly state that the plaintiff may dismiss as to one joint tort-feasor or may even grant a covenant not

to sue, and such action does not amount to a release which will bar recovery against other joint tort-feasors. It is manifest, therefore, that a dismissal or a waiver against one joint tort-feasor or joint obligor does not amount to a release of liability. The complete argument of the Appellants is based up the assumption that there had been a release of liability by the Respondent. The evidence does not support such a contention. Even if it could be construed that a release had been granted, it is further submitted that the Appellants would be estopped to rely upon any benefits in their favor based thereon. The reduction in the amount of the claim against the corporation was made as a result of complaints and arguments then being made by the Appellants that the securing of a judgment against both the corporation and the individual appellants would be tantamount to double payment. Although it is submitted that the securing of judgments without satisfaction is not double payment, it would still be inequitable for the appellants to now contend that the Respondent by voluntarily reducing the amount of his claim against the insolvent corporation has released the individual Appellants from any liability.

The only case cited by the Appellant in support of its contention with reference to the release was a Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals case, *Greenhalch vs. Shell Oil Company*, 78 F. 2d 942. This case involved a document entitled "Release and Stipulation for Dismissal." It was clear that the document was a release granted in payment of a substantial consideration, and further the document, after releasing and discharging the liability of the one party, specifically reserved rights as against a doctor for malpractice. It did not reserve its rights as against the defendant in the particular case. The court, therefore,

held that the document was what it purported to be, a release and a stipulation for dismissal. In this case there was no contract, payment of consideration, or document purporting or intended to be a release or dismissal of any claims.

CONCLUSION

It is submitted that there is substantial competent evidence to support the factual determination of the trial court that the Appellants individually agreed to pay a \$500 retainer and costs. Further, it is submitted that there was no release granted to a co-obligor which would, therefore, bring into operation the terms of the statute cited by the Appellants. It is respectfully submitted that the decision of the trial court should be affirmed, with costs to the Respondents.